10

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK ALLEN GERALDS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,938

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On March 15, 1989, a Bay County grand jury returned an indictment charging Mark Allen Geralds with first degree murder, armed robbery, burglary of a dwelling, and theft of an automobile. (R-22-32) Geralds pleaded not guilty and proceeded to a jury trial commencing on January 29, 1990. (R-97) After jury selection, the trial court denied Geralds' motion for change of venue. (R-17-25, 421, 1396) The jury found Geralds guilty as charged (R-2365-2366), and at the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended a death sentence. (R-2370)

Circuit Judge Don T. Sirmons adjudged Geralds guilty on March 26, 1990, and sentenced him to death for first degree murder, to life for armed robbery, to life for the burglary, and to 30 years for the theft of an automobile. (R-2435-2444)The sentences for the noncapital felonies were imposed after the court declared Geralds an habitual felony offender. (R-2392, 2397- 2398, 2435-2444) In support of the death sentence, the court found four aggravating circumstances; (1) the homicide occurred during a robbery or burglary (the court also found the homicide occurred for pecuniary gain which merged with this factor); (2) the homicide was committed to avoid arrest; (3) the homicide was committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner; and (4) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R-2435-2439) Although the court did not discuss the mitigating evidence presented during the penalty phase, the

- 1 -

sentencing order stated that no statutory or nonstatutory mitigating factors were established. (R-2439)

Geralds filed his notice of appeal to this court on April 19, 1990. (R-2464)

Facts -- Guilt Phase

Bart Pettibone arrived home from school at approximately 3:15 p.m. on February 1, 1989. (R-1471) He entered his house through the carport door using his key, since the door was locked. (R-1472) He left his books just inside the door, took off his shoes and walked into the kitchen. (R-1473-1474) He found his mother, Tressa Lynn Pettibone, lying on the kitchen floor. (R-1474) She had been beaten and stabbed. (R 1836-1842) A short time later, Kelly Stracener, a family friend arrived at the Pettibone residence. (R-1424) Stracener was driving Blythe Pettibone, Bart's older sister, home from school. (R-1420-1423) Bart told Stracener about his mother, and she entered the home and saw Tressa Pettibone's body on the floor. (R-1424-1425) Stracener took the two children with her and telephoned for the police and paramedics from a friends house. (R-1425-1426)

Tressa Pettibone died as a result of a stab wound to the neck. (R-1836) There were two stab wounds to the right side of the neck and one to the left side. (R-1841-1842) The wound to the left side was the fatal one; it traversed to the right side cutting the trachea and the right carotid artery. (R-1860-1862) The stab wounds were produced by an object consistent with the knife found in the kitchen sink. (R-1874)(state's exhibit A-1)

- 2 -

The medical examiner also found a number of bruises and abrasions on the victim. (R-1835-1836, 1839-1842) They were located on the head, face, chest, and abdomen. (R-1839-1841, 1842, 1856-1859, 1863-1864) The injuries were caused by some form of blunt trauma, such as a fist, or striking a hard object such as the floor of the residence. (R-1864-1866) The medical examiner concluded that the bruises occurred prior to death due to the hemoraging. (R-1871) He further concluded that the victim was alive during the first two stab wounds, because of bleeding found in the tissues. (R-1872) The final stab wound, which caused death, would have produced unconsciousness within a few minutes and death shortly thereafter. (R-1874) All of the wounds were administered to the front of the body. (R-1872-1873) The victim's hands were also bound in front with a plastic tie strip. (R-1851-1852) Swelling in the hands and fingers lead Sybers to conclude that the victim was alive for at least twenty minutes after her hands were bound. (R-1852-1854) Sybers was of the opinion that the three stab wounds were administered while the victim was either standing or kneeling because of the location of the wounds. (R-1874) He could not determine whether the victim was standing, kneeling, or lying down at the time of the blunt trauma injuries. (R-1872-1873) Based on the blood stains on the floor, and the location of the blood on her clothing, Sybers believed the victim was on her front, primarily on her right side at the time of death. (R-1850-1851) The stains on the floor also

- 3 -

indicated that the body had been moved or pulled through the large pool of blood. (R-1845-1848)

Several items of evidence were collected at the crime scene. These included blood stains found in the residence, some earrings from the kitchen and hallway areas, and some shoe impressions in blood on the floor of the kitchen and dining room. (R-1541-1559) A knife on top of a blue wash rag was found in the kitchen sink. (R-1541, 1557-1558) The knife was similar to a set of knives hanging on the wall in the kitchen. (R-1593-1595) A contact lens was located on the kitchen floor. (R-1565- 1566) A plastic tie like the one binding the victim's hands was also on the kitchen floor. (R 1541) Crime scene analyst collected and photographed the various items of evidence. (R-1548-1564)

The crime scene coordinator, Laura Rousseau, refreshed her memory from her handwritten notes during her trial testimony. (R-1539, 1597-1605) After Rousseau reviewed her notes in order to answer a question about whether she documented the brand of knives located in the kitchen, defense counsel asked the court to have her handwritten notes copied as an exhibit for his use on cross-examination. (R-1593-1595) Counsel noted that the witness had been looking through several pages of handwritten notes while testifying. (R-1594, 1595-1599) Counsel objected that these notes were not provided to him on discovery pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220(a)(1)(X). (R-1594, 1601-1603) The court ruled that there had been no discovery violation since counsel had received the witness's formal

- 4 -

report. (R-1605) However, the judge stated that counsel was entitled to the particular page of the handwritten notes the witness used when responding to the question about the knives. (R-1605) A single page was provided to counsel. (R-1605-1606) A copy of the notes was sealed as a court exhibit for appellate review. (R-1607-1609)

Blythe Pettibone testified that several items of jewelry were missing from the residence. (R-1492-1503, 1514-1516) Among these were a diamond necklace, a herringbone chain necklace, her father's ring and watch, some earrings, a long herringbone chain necklace, a pair of red-framed, Bucci sunglasses. (R-1492-1497, 1515-1516) When shown a herringbone necklace which was recovered during the investigation, she testified that her mother had a chain exactly like that one. (R-1515) Blythe said a pair of Bucci sunglasses which had been found were similar to the ones that her mother owned. (R 1515-1516) There was nothing peculiar about either of these items upon which she could make an identification. (R-1516) Kevin Pettibone, the victim's husband, testified that the victim's Mercedez automobile was missing. (R-1522-1525) The automobile was found in the parking lot of the school. (R 1418-1419). He also said that \$7000 in cash hidden in the house was not touched. (R-1532)

Mark Geralds was a carpenter who had worked on the remodeling of the Pettibone residence about a year before the homicide. (R-1524-1525) He worked on the home at various times over a period of three or four months. (R-1525, 1483-1486,

- 5 -

1464-1465) One week before February 1, 1989, Tressa Pettibone and her children, Bart and Blythe, were in the mall. (R-1465-1466, 1484- 1485) They saw Mark while they were buying a cinnamon roll at TJ Cinnamon. (R-1485) Mark conversed with Tressa Pettibone about work and the house. (R-1486) Pettibone also mentioned that her husband was out of town on business. (R-1486) Later, Bart Pettibone saw Mark again in the arcade playing a video game. (R-1466-1468) Bart began playing a game, and Mark approached him and started talking. (R-1468) Mark asked when Bart's father would be back from out of town. (R-1468) He further asked when Bart and sister left for and returned from school during the day. (R-1468-1470)

Around 2:00 p.m. on February 1, 1989, Mark pawned a gold herringbone chain necklace at a Panama City Beach pawn shop. (R-1752-1759) Billy Danford, the pawn broker, turned the necklace over to police officer Paul Winterman. (R-1744-1747, 1760) Kevin Pettibone and his daughter, Blythe, were present with Officer Winterman to examine the necklace. (R-1748-1750) Kevin Pettibone noticed a stain on the necklace that appeared to be blood. (R-1750) Serology testing on the stain revealed that it was blood which was compatible with the victim's blood type, Type A, and consistent with five enzymes present in her blood. (R 1776-1784) The testing showed that the blood was inconsistent with Mark's. (R-1776-1784)

Douglas Freeman, Mark's grandfather, testified that Mark came by his house on a couple of occasions to take a shower. (R-1672-1676) He said Mark arrived about 11:30 a.m. on

- 6 -

February 1, 1989, and asked to take a shower since he had been working on a fiberglass boat. (R-1672-1673) Mark was either wearing or carrying a pair of gloves. (R-1673-1675) He stated Mark was carrying a pair of sunglasses, and when he left, Mark said that he was taking the glasses to one of his friends. (R-1676) On cross-examination, Freeman remembered the February 1st date because that was the day his social security check was deposited in the bank. (R-1679-1680) However, Mark had come by his home on more than one occasion, at least twice, to take a shower. (R-1681) The other occasion was approximately three weeks earlier. (R-1681) Freeman testified that on both occasions, Mark asked to take a shower because he had been working on a fiberglass boat. (R-1673, 1676-1681)

Vickey Ward testified that Mark gave her a pair of red Bucci sunglasses sometime in late January or early February, 1989. (R-1682-1684) She had borrowed a pair of blue Bucci sunglasses from Mark sometime earlier, but she liked red ones. At that time, he gave her red ones and took back the blue ones. (R-1686)

A pair of Nike shoes was seized from Geralds' residence. (R 1710-1713) Kenneth Hogue, with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, compared the shoe tread of the Nike shoes with the shoe tracks found in blood on the floor at the homicide scene. (R-1724-1733) Neither the shoes nor the tracks had any unusual characteristics. (R-1728-1733) His opinion was that the shoes could have made the tracks on the floor. (R-1731-1735)

- 7 -

Two plastic tie straps were recovered from the crime scene. One bound the hands of the victim. (R 1852-1853) The second was on the floor of the kitchen. (R-1541) A product engineer from Thomas Industries, Wilford Hutchison, testified that the plastic tie found on the kitchen floor (state's exhibit A-8) and the plastic tie recovered from the victim's wrist (state's exhibit D-3) were manufactured by his company. (R-1701-1702) Hutchison also examined a plastic bag and plastic ties which were recovered from the defendant's automobile. (R 1689-1692, 1701) Those ties and the plastic bag were from this company. (R-1701) However, there was one plastic tie with those in the car that was made by a competing company. (R-1701) Hutchison said his company produced about 50,000 of these plasitic ties a year, and they were distributed locally by Key Electric in Panama City. (R 1702-1707)

The State presented testimony from the chief of security at the jail that Mark left the facility without permission on January 15, 1990, approximately two weeks before trial. (R 1894-1896) David Pitts, a Panama City police officer, apprended Mark the following day about four miles from the jail. (R 1897-1899)

Motion for Change of Venue and Jury Selection

Geralds moved for a change of venue due to pretrial publicity. (R-2306-2307, 2323) He renewed his motion during and at the conclusion of jury selection. (R-420, 1397) The news media coverage included a detailed account about the offense and Mark's escape two weeks before trial. (R 2306-2307,

- 8 -

2323) (See, Defense Exhibits in Support of Motion for Change of Venue)

During jury selection, 101 jurors were examined individually regarding their knowledge about the case. (R-130-1378) Only six of the prospective jurors had never heard or read about the case. (R-158, 231, 453, 556, 631, 1255) Forty of the prospective jurors had heard or read about Geralds' escape shortly before trial. (R-133, 194, 253, 267, 282, 303, 309, 350, 369, 373, 386, 417, 431, 519, 532, 591, 601, 619, 654, 660, 671, 684, 694, 742, 830, 866, 1126, 1136, 1152, 1173, 1190, 1200, 1273, 1284, 1306, 1334, 1341) Of the twelve jurors who tried the case, eleven had heard or read something about the offense prior to trial. (R-258, 279, 317, 395, 443, 489, 565, 616, 640, 756, 857) Two of the jurors specifically mentioned hearing or reading about the escape. (R-279, 616) Although the court granted numerous challenges for cause due to pretrial publicity, two jurors, whom defense counsel challenged for cause, actually served on the jury. (R-489, 498, 616, 628) Defense counsel exhausted his peremptory challenges, requested two additional ones and identified two seated jurors whom he would have excused if given the extra challenges. (R 1100-1101)

Penalty Phase and Sentencing

The state presented no additional evidence during the penalty phase of the trial. (R-2133) Geralds presented two witnesses. Dana Wilson, a former neighbor, and Margaret

- 9 -

Leeanne Geralds, Mark's wife, testified in mitigation. (R-2133, 2147)

Dana Wilson testified that Mark lived next door with his parents for about a year, approximately two years earlier. (R-2134) He said he never saw Mark behave violently or in a confrontational nature in his presence. (R-1235) Mark frequently played with Wilson's small children and was good with them. (R-2135) Wilson knew that Mark's parents had divorced before they moved next door. (R-2135) He further testified that he had seen Mark on perhaps two or three occasions since Mark moved away. (R-2136) On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Wilson if he was aware that Mark had been convicted eight times. (R-2137) Defense counsel objected on the grounds that it was improper impeachment. (R-2138) The court sustained the objection as far as the question asked about eight prior convictions. (R-2138-2140) However, the court allowed the prosecutor to ask about multiple convictions. (R-2140-2142)

Margaret Leeanne Geralds testified that she had known Mark for over three years and that they had dated almost continually during that time period. (R 2151) She said that Mark was never violent in her presence (R-2149) and, during the arguments they had, he tended to walk away and never suggested any physical violence toward her. (R-2419) She was aware that his mother was a Jehova's Witness and would not allow Mark to date outside the faith. (R-2150) This was a problem for Mark while growing up, but he was not living at home at the time the two of them began their relationship. (R-2150)

- 10 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court improperly denied two defense challenges for cause to prospective jurors. Prospective Juror Michael Moss said he was not sure if he could set aside the information about the case he learned through pretrial news reports. Juror Stephen Farrell heard about the case through the media and from conversations between his wife and sister-in-law. His sisterin-law lived two blocks from the crime scene and knew the victim's children. After the court denied the challenges for cause, defense counsel expended all of his peremptory challenges and requested additional ones. The court denied the request. Counsel identified two seated jurors whom he would have excused. One prospective juror, whom the court improperly refused to excuse for cause, served on the jury. The improper denial of cause challenges forced Geralds to trial with jurors who were unable to fairly decide his case. He was denied his right to a fair trial by an impartial jury. Amends. VI, XIV U.S. Const.; Art. I Sec. 16, Fla. Const.

2. Mark Geralds moved for a change of venue due to pretrial publicity. He renewed his motion during and at the conclusion of jury selection. The news media coverage included a detailed account about the offense and Mark's escape two weeks before trial. The jury selection process required the examination of over one hundred prospective jurors -- only six had never heard or read about the case. Although the trial judge granted numerous challenges for cause and allowed fifteen peremptory challenges, two jurors, whom Geralds had

- 11 -

unsuccessfully challenged, actually served on the jury. In spite of the pervasive pretrial knowledge about the case and the difficulty selecting a jury, the trial court denied the request for a change of venue and Geralds' right to a fair and impartial jury trial.

3. After denying Geralds' motion for a change of venue due to pretrial publicity, the court should have granted a continuance. The news media coverage included a detailed account about the offense and Mark's escape two weeks before trial. News coverage continued through the commencement of trial. The court should have delayed the trial until the prejudicial publicity abated.

4. The State's crime scene coordinator refreshed her memory from her handwritten notes during her trial testimony. Defense counsel asked the court to have her handwritten notes copied as an exhibit for his use on cross-examination. The court ruled that counsel was only entitled to the particular page of the handwritten notes the witness used when responding to a particular question. The court provided a single page to counsel after an <u>in camera</u> inspection of all of the notes. Defense counsel was entitled to all of the witness's notes for two reasons. First, the notes were discoverable under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.220(a)(1)(x) which provides for disclosure of reports or statements of experts. Second, counsel had the right to the notes once the witness used them while testifying. Sec. 90.613 Fla. Stat. The court's ruling to deny counsel access to the notes deprived Geralds of his right to confront

- 12 -

and cross-examine the state witness and his rights to due process and a fair trial.

5. The trial court improperly found and considered two aggravating circumstances. At best, the evidence showed that the homicide occurred during a robbery and burglary without any indication of a plan to kill the victim. The homicide was not committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner and was not committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest. Inclusion of these factors in the sentencing equation rendered Geralds' death sentence unconstitutionally imposed under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

6. Geralds' jury was not sufficiently instructed on the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance. The trial court used the standard penalty phase jury instructions. Additionally, the court defined the terms "heinous", "atrocious" and "cruel" using language from <u>State v. Dixon</u>. However, this instruction, even with the added explanation of the aggravating circumstance, was inadequate to guide and limit the jury's sentencing function. The instructions given are unconstitutionally vague because they fail to inform the jury of the findings necessary to support the aggravating circumstance and a sentence of death. <u>Shell v. Mississippi</u>, 498 U.S. ____, 111 S.Ct. ___, 112 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990); <u>Maynard v.</u> Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 108 S.Ct. 1853, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988).

7. The State introduced nonstatutory aggravating circumstances into the sentencing proceeding when cross-examining a

- 13 -

defense mitigation witness. The prosecutor sought to impeach the witness by asking him if he was aware of Mark's criminal record. Defense counsel objected and moved for a mistrial on the ground that the prosecutor was using improper evidence to impeach. The court prohibited questioning concerning a specific number of convictions, but the prosecutor was allowed to ask about "multiple" convictions. Convictions for nonviolent felonies are inadmissible evidence of a nonstatutory aggravating circumstance. Moreover, the prosecutor is not permitted to use impeachment as a guise for introduction of such inadmissible evidence.

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