SEP 18 1991

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

MARK ALLEN GERALDS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,938

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER Assistant Attorney General FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

This issue was not preserved for appeal.

FACTS: ISSUES X, XI (Habitual offender)

No factual development is required.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellant contends that the trial court committed ten separate reversible errors.

Claims I, II and III relate to complaints regarding pretrial publicity and juror bias. These issues are clearly refuted from the record.

Claim IV related to a so-called "discovery" violation which, as counsel stated at trial, never happened.

Claim V is merely a challenge to the weight of the evidence supporting the "cold-calculated-premeditated" aggravating factor. Evidence is not reweighed on appeal.

Claims VI and IX were not preserved for appeal.

Claim VII related to an "error" invited by Mr. Geralds but handled appropriately within the trial court's discretion.

Claim VIII is another challenge to the weight of the evidence and, we note, was not preserved by objection below.

Claims X and XI are, as conceded by the appellant, moot.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING TWO OF THE DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE.

The Appellant's first point on appeal is a contention that the trial court erred in denying two challenges for cause, thus forcing the Appellant to spend a peremptory challenge to remove one venireman (Mr. Moss) and to accept the second (Mr. Farrell) as a juror.

The Appellant suggests that the presence, in the record, of his challenges for cause and the subsequent exhaustion of his peremptory challenges preserves this issue for appeal. We disagree, and before discussing the merits of Mr. Geralds' brief we shall explain why.

In *Trotter v. State*, 576 So.2d 691, 693 (Fla.1990) this Court held:

Under Florida law, "[t]o show reversible a defendant must show that all peremptories had been exhausted and that an objectionable juror had to be accepted." Pentecost v. State, 545 So.2d 861, 863 n. 1 By this we mean the following. (Fla.1989). Where a defendant seeks reversal based on a claim that he was wrongfully forced exhaust his peremptory challenges, initially must identify a specific juror whom he otherwise would have struck peremptorily. This juror must be an individual who actually sat on the jury and whom the defendant either challenged for cause or attempted challenge peremptorily or otherwise objected to after his peremptory challenges had been The defendant cannot stand by exhausted. silently while an objectionable juror seated and then, if the verdict is adverse, obtain a new trial. In the present case, after exhausting his peremptory challenges, Trotter failed to object to any venireperson who ultimately was seated. He thus has failed to establish this claim.

In this case, Mr. Moss was peremptorily challenged at a time when the defense had a number of remaining peremptory challenges. In point of fact, Moss was not among the Appellant's first group of peremptory challenges but was only challenged by the defense as a "backstrike" at a later time. Mr. Farrell was never removed, but is must be noted that the defense never objected to Mr. Farrell remaining on the jury. Rather, at the time defense counsel used up his final challenges, his complaint was directed to the continuing presence of two objectionable women, a "Taiwanese" woman and a Ms. Bright. The last peremptory was used to remove Ms. Bright and Farrell was never mentioned. (R 1100-1101).

Under the *Trotter* decision, it is clear that Geralds' appellate brief should have argued the continued participation of the woman from Taiwan, not Mr. Farrell. As to Mr. Farrell, there was no proper, post-peremptory objection and thus no preservation of this issue. Regarding Mr. Moss, again, we note that Moss did not serve and there was no "post-peremptory challenge" objection to the expenditure of a peremptory challenge on him. Again, the issue was not preserved.

Even if the issues had been preserved, however, it is evident from the record that the trial court did not err. Thus, without conceding any right to merits review, we shall discuss the merits for the sake of completeness.

Mr. Geralds takes the position that veniremen Moss and Farrell were excludable for cause simply because they had heard of this case. Absent from Geralds' brief is any acknowledgment of the controlling law.

Returning briefly to the facts, the record shows that Moss and Farrell were subjected to very clear questioning by defense counsel. These men were not asked if they were "prejudiced" but rather, they were asked to positively "guarantee" that, in the course of their deliberations, no memory of any detail about which they had read would ever enter their minds. No honest person would ever make such a promise and both veniremen, accordingly, refused to do so. Both men, however, clearly and unequivocally stated that they would rely exclusively upon the courtroom evidence, would disregard information from outside sources and would be fair and impartial. (R 188, 196, 491-498).

again, was a military officer and weekend Moss, (R 186-186). Moss had been with the television weatherman. television station for four months (R 186) and did not run across this story while he was working. (R 186). Moss was not a reporter and did not handle or read hard news. (R 186). cross, defense counsel not only wanted a "promise" that Moss' mind would be sterile, he wanted Moss to tell the court explicitly "how" he could purge his mind. (R 196). This line of inquiry was out of line because it compelled a juror to guarantee blank something not required by law (a mind) and argumentative. The state did not object to these questions but the Court clearly acted properly in denying a frivolous challenge for cause based upon them.

Mr. Moss, again, was so unobjectionable that, when he was finally removed, it was merely as a backstrike.

Mr. Farrell was never stricken. Farrell was unequivocal in stating he had no opinion regarding Geralds' guilt. (R 494). Farrell worked twelve hours a day, six days per week, and did not follow this story. (R 492). His only knowledge of the case stemmed from some conversation with his sister-in-law. (R 493).

As this Court held in *Cook v. State*, 542 So.2d 964, 969 (Fla.1989), there "is hardly any area of the law in which the trial judge is given more discretion than in ruling on challenges of jurors for cause." The standard of appellate review, therefore, is the "abuse of discretion" standard rather than some appellate reweighing of cold, transcribed, questions and answers.

In Mills v. State, 462 So.2d 1075 (Fla.1985) this Court, citing to Christopher v. State, 407 So.2d 198 (Fla.1981) and Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla.1984), equated this standard with a "manifest error" test and upheld the trial judge's refusal to excuse a juror for cause when said juror made it clear he could "lay aside any bias or prejudice and render his verdict solely upon the evidence and the instructions on the law given to him by the court." Mills, supra, at 1079.

In our case, veniremen Moss and Farrell were unequivocal about their lack of bias and their intent to limit their consideration of the case to the facts adduced at trial. Geralds, however, took the approach that the jurors' minds had to be sterile. Clearly, that is not the law. Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla.1985).

Defense counsel was very clever in the phrasing of his voir dire questions (regarding each juror's ability to purge facts

from his or her memory). We submit, however, that if clever questions cannot rehabilitate a biased juror, see *Noe v. State*, 16 FLW D. 2040 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), they cannot disqualify a competent juror either.

Here, as in *Penn v. State*, 16 FLW S. 117 (Fla.1991), the Appellant has failed to allege or show an abuse of the trial court's discretion. Since the veniremen were unequivocal as to their lack of bias, see *Pentecost v. State*, 545 So.2d 861 (Fla.1989) and since they were not required to be totally ignorant of the facts of the case *Hollsworth v. State*, 522 So.2d 348 (Fla.1988), the trial court did not err in refusing to strike these veniremen for cause.

Again, however, we note that the two jurors selected for appellate briefing (Moss and Farrell) were not the two jurors objected to at trial (the "Taiwanese" lady and Mrs. Bright). Thus, even Mr. Geralds' defense team does not seem to agree on the issue of "bias." More importantly, however, they have failed to preserve the issue for appellant review.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE.

The Appellant contends that his motion for change of venue should have been granted because there was extensive pretrial publicity, "over a hundred" veniremen were examined and $Booth^1$ and $Jackson^2$ outlaw the dissemination (to jurors) of any information regarding "victim" impact.

Booth v. Maryland, 482 US 496 (1987)

First, we note that a petit jury of twelve unbiased men and women was selected from a small (for a capital case) pool of seventy five veniremen. Of those seventy five, forty were not challenged for cause due to media exposure. Thus, no inordinate number of jurors was considered.

Second, Booth has been severely limited by the recent decision in Payne v. Tennessee, __US___, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991), which recognized that Booth was based upon a misreading of Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 US 280 (1976) which resulted in the improper exclusion of victim impact evidence as a means of assessing culpability in a "meaningful" manner. Payne, at 735.

Third, Geralds has once again failed to address the appropriate standard of review. As this Court held in $Mills\ v.$ State, 462 So.2d 1075, 1078 (Fla.1985)

"The trial court's decision on a motion for change of venue will generally be upheld, absent the showing of a palpable abuse of discretion."

In Mills, the voir dire transcripts showed that extensive pretrial publicity (of a black-on-white murder in rural Wakulla County) did not so infect the venire as to compel a change of venue. In Hollsworth v. State, 522 So.2d 348 (Fla.1988), Justice Barkett correctly noted that the key to the venue issue is not "publicity" but rather "juror prejudice." In the most publicized of all Florida cases, Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla.1985), the key again was not "publicity" nor was it "juror knowledge" of the

² Jackson v. State, 498 So.2d 906 (Fla.1987)

facts, rather, the issue was "bias" and whether jurors could rule on the facts as adduced in court.

The transcripts at bar do not show media-induced juror bias. First, defense counsel (Mr. Adams) challenged veniremen for cause using a "sterile mind" requirement. Thus, the pure number of challenges (granted or not) is not helpful to his case. jurors were excluded for cause not because the media necessarily "inflamed" them, but rather for reasons common to many cases. Some jurors wanted (or even expected) the defense to put on evidence to prove Geralds' innocence in addition to having heard See Reed (R 139); Howell (R 384-395); and A few equated "arrest" with guilt and Kimbrough (R 527-544). would not presume innocence. See Melder (R 151); Norwell (R 180); Campbell (R 823). Some were opposed to capital punishment. See Bartholet (R 556-562). Some were related to law officers, or were somehow involved with witnesses or potential witnesses. See Cook (R 205), Powell (R 292), Freer (R 316), Allen (R 478), Wheeler (R 525). In other words, (and the preceding examples are not the only examples), this venire pool contained excludable jurors of a kind of frequently encountered regardless of "publicity."

Again, 40 of the 75 veniremen were not challenged by the defense for cause, and 10 of the 12 petit jurors did not draw any media based objections from Mr. Geralds. Of the two who did sit (Miles and Farrell) only Farrell's competence has been challenged, and then only on appeal.

Geralds has failed in his duty to show an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE.

The final publicity-venue related question goes, once again, to a discretionary ruling by the trial court denying a requested continuance. Once again, Geralds does not address the appropriate standard of review and he completely ignored the record beyond the mere existence of some publicity.

The grant or denial of a continuance is a matter of strict judicial discretion. Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla.1984); Zeigler v. State, 402 So.2d 365 (Fla.1981). Geralds has neither alleged nor shown such an abuse.

First, Geralds has failed to show extensive community bias against him. Copeland v. State, 457 So.2d 1012 (Fla.1984). In fact, Geralds has not shown that the media was creating a hostile atmosphere or editorializing about his guilt or, in any other way, hurting his case. The mere reporting of neutral facts is not proof of either media or community prejudice. Copeland, id.; Murphy v. Florida, 421 US 794 (1975). Second, Geralds has not shown that a continuance would have resulted in an abatement of any news coverage. Indeed, prior continuances did not seem to reduce said coverage.

Finally, Geralds (again) has failed to show that he was unable to select a fair jury. We again rely upon the record from the voir dire and our observations from arguments I and II on that point.

Absent any showing of any palpable absence of discretion the Appellant is not entitled to relief.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE IV

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON THE ISSUE OF ACCESS TO THE FIELD NOTES OF A STATE WITNESS.

The Appellant's fourth point on appeal is unsupported by either the facts or the law. We will begin by correcting Appellant's "facts."

On appeal, Geralds has assumed the position that the state violated its discovery obligations under Fla.R.C.P. 3.220 as to the personal notes of witness Laura Rousseau (an FDLE lab analyst).

At (R 2242, 2244) the record shows that Ms. Rousseau and her report were revealed to the defense during pretrial discovery. Ms. Rousseau could have been deposed (and her reports examined) prior to trial. In fact, defense counsel, at trial, stated for the record that these materials were provided and that the state did not violate Rule 3.220. (R 1595). Mr. Geralds' brief represents a complete ignoral of trial counsel's position.

Also conspicuous by its absence is any mention of the trial court's "Richardson inquiry," which revealed that Ms. Rousseau's notes and/or any information therein <u>had</u>, in fact, been provided to defense counsel. (R 1605).

Also conspicuously absent from Geralds' brief is any discussion of the "information" in question, any admission that the trial court gave counsel the notes reviewed by Ms. Rousseau and any admission that counsel, after receiving the note, asked

<u>no</u> cross-examination questions regarding it. In point of fact, this "issue" concerns nothing more than Ms. Rousseau's checking of her notes to see if a knife found in the kitchen sink was the same brand name - nothing more - as some other knives photographed in the kitchen. The "brand name" issue never again surfaced. There was no disputed allegation that the knife was Geralds' or the victim's or that the "brand name" was somehow significant. Again, Geralds' brief does not address this fact.

Apparently Geralds wants a bizarre declaration of per se reversible error regarding a nonexistent "discovery violation" unrelated to any disputed issue at trial. Even then, Geralds' brief misstates the law.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220 doe not compel or require the production of any officer's personal field notes unless they contain the substantially verbatim or sworn testimony (or statement) of a witness, *Downing v. State*, 536 So.2d 189 (Fla.1989) or other discoverable information as delineated by the rule. Even police reports are not "ipso facto" discoverable. *Downing*, id; Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla.1982).

Geralds, of course, received Rousseau's reports. What he did not receive (pretrial) was her handwritten notes. Even under post-conviction "discovery" pursuant to Chapter 119, such disclosure would not be required because of the recognized exemption from disclosure which attaches to field notes. State v. Kokal, 562 So.2d 324 (Fla.1990).

Finally, Geralds has failed to allege or show "prejudice." First, Geralds had the official report by Rousseau. Second, the

Richardson hearing revealed that Rousseau's entire bundle of "notes" contained no information that had not already been disclosed. Third, the note relied upon by Rousseau was given to counsel. Fourth, counsel never cross examined Rousseau regarding the notes.

Geralds is not entitled to relief on this factually and legally baseless claim.

ARGUMENT: ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THIS MURDER "COLD - CALCULATED - AND PREMEDITATED" AND COMMITTED TO AVOID ARREST.

(A) COLD - CALCULATED - PREMEDITATED MURDER

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